COURT OF APPEALS NO. 69552-5-I

IN THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON COUNTY OF KING

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

٧.

LIBAN ADEM,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KING COUNTY

The Honorable Hollis R. Hill, Judge

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES R. DIXON Attorney for Petitioner

Dixon & Cannon, Ltd. 601 Union Street, Suite 3230 Seattle, WA 98101 (206) 957-2247

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- The court violated Mr. Adem's right to a speedy trial by failing to bring him to trial within the time period prescribed by CrR
 3.3, and failing to inquire as to good cause for the continuances.
- 2. Mr. Adem received ineffective assistance of counsel when his attorney requested a continuance of the trial date at the same time that the State was asking for additional time to obtain DNA evidence against the defendant.
- There was insufficient evidence to support the trial court's finding as to the firearm enhancement as well as the charge of possession of an unlawful weapon.
- The court erred in failing to enter CrR 6.1 findings following a bench trial.

<u>Issues Pertaining to the Assignments of Error</u>

1. From the beginning, Mr. Adem expressed his desire for a quick trial. On the record he expressed his willingness to forgo a better plea deal in order to have a quicker trial date. Over his objection, his attorney continued requesting continuances of the trial date. The court did not inquire into the good faith basis for any of these continuances, or why the identified interviews could not be conducted within the time allotted under the speedy trial rule. Nor

did the court inquire as to why, six months after charges were filed, the State needed additional time to obtain DNA evidence. Did the court violate Mr. Adem's right to a speedy trial when it granted the continuances over his steadfast objections?

- 2. Over her client's express objection, defense counsel requested a short continuance of the trial date at the same time that the State was seeking a longer continuance in order to obtain DNA evidence against Mr. Adem. If this Court were to conclude that defense counsel's request for a short continuance relieved the State of it obligation to demonstrate good cause for the longer continuance, did defense counsel's unreasonable request deprive Mr. Adem of his right to effective assistance of counsel?
- 3. Mr. Adem was charged with unlawful possession of a firearm, as well as a firearm enhancement on his robbery charge. The State failed to produce the alleged firearm, and the purported weapon was never discharged. Did the State fail to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the gun was operable?
- 4. The State failed to enter written findings of fact and conclusions of law following a bench trial, as required by CrR 6.1. Is remand required for entry of these findings?

II. STATEMENT OF FACTS

1. Procedural History

The State charged Liban Adem with one count of robbery in the first degree and one count of unlawful possession of a firearm, both alleged to have occurred on February 9, 2012. CP 1-8; RCW 9A.56.200; RCW 9.41.040(1). On September 28, 2012, the State amended the information to add a firearm enhancement as to the robbery charge. CP 31-32; RCW 9.94A.533(3).

On October 4, 2012, Mr. Adem waived his right to a jury trial and proceeded by means of a bench trial before the Honorable Hollis Hill. CP 36. Three weeks later, on October 25, 2012, the court found Mr. Adem guilty of robbery in the first degree while armed with a firearm. RP 574-75. The court issued a lengthy oral ruling and asked the prosecutor to prepare written findings. RP 575. There are no written findings in the court file.

The court never specifically found Mr. Adem guilty of the unlawful possession of a firearm charge. See Oral Ruling RP 569-577. In fact, the court never mentioned that charge in its oral ruling. Apparently this fact went unnoticed, as the court later sentenced Mr. Adem on that charge without comment from either party.

The court sentenced Mr. Adem on November 9, 2012 to a standard range sentence on both offenses, plus an additional five years for the firearm enhancement. CP 107-115. The court did not enter findings of fact as required by CrR 6.1.

2. Facts Relating To The Speedy Trial Violations

On March 13, 2012, Liban Adem appeared at a case setting hearing. It was the first case setting hearing, and he had no desire to continue the case for negotiation. The prosecutor put on the record that by setting the case for trial at this point--before the State had made an offer--that Mr. Adem was potentially giving up his ability to broker a favorable deal. RP 3/13/12 at 1-2. Mr. Adem did not change his mind. He wanted to set the case for trial and put the State to its burden.

At the first omnibus hearing on April 13, 2012, defense counsel stated that she needed more time to have a "pretty indepth conversation" about the case and the evidence to be presented. RP 4/13/12 at 1. Because his attorney believed it important, Mr. Adem agreed to the continuance. The court granted the continuance, with a new expiration date of June 23, 2012. Supp CP (sub no. 16A, 4/13/12).

At the second omnibus hearing on May 4, 2012, defense counsel stated that new charges had recently been filed against her client. Mr. Adem had a different attorney representing him on those charges. RP 5/4/12 at 2. The parties wanted to continue the omnibus hearing with a goal of a global resolution. Defense counsel indicated that Mr. Adem was "kind of on the fence" when she had last spoke to him about the continuing the trial date. *Id.* at 3. There was a brief pause in the proceedings and then his attorney asked, "Are you in agreement? Is that a yes or no?" to which Mr. Adem responded, "yeah." *Id.* The court scheduled a new trial date for June 13, 2012, with an expiration date of June 13, 2012. Supp CP __ (sub no. 19, 5/4/12). This was the last continuance to which Mr. Adem did not object.

At the third omnibus hearing, on June 1, 2012, defense counsel reported to the court that Mr. Adem was not interested in a plea and wanted a trial in this case. Defense counsel stated that she still needed to interview a number of witnesses, but that Mr. Adem did not want a continuance. RP 6/1/12 at 1-2. He wished to go to trial now, without waiving speedy trial. The court did not make any inquiry as to why the interviews could not be accomplished within the time period for trial, nor did the court inquire as to

why none of the interviews had occurred yet, close to two months after the case had been set for trial. Instead, the court granted a continuance over Mr. Adem's specific objection. Supp CP __ (sub no. 22, 6/1/12). The new omnibus and trial date were set beyond the existing expiration date, with a trial date of July 16, 2012, and new expiration date of August 15, 2012. *Id*.

At the fourth omnibus hearing, on July 13, 2012, defense counsel again sought another continuance over her client's specific objection. At this point, Mr. Adem was back in custody. RP 7/13/12 at 3. Defense counsel stated that she needed a one-week continuance to prepare the case for trial. Specifically, the robbery victim still needed to be interview. *Id.* at 3.

Significantly, the State also wanted more time in which to develop its evidence against Mr. Adem. *Id.* at 2. Despite the fact that the robbery had occurred back on February 9, 2012, the State indicated that it needed around 30 days to receive results from DNA testing. The tape from the hearing contains inaudible portions, but it appears that the State did not provide specific dates as to when the request had been put in for the DNA, other than a vague "it was a number of months ago." *Id.* at 4. The State did not

offer any explanation as to why it still had not taken a sample from Mr. Adem at the time of the hearing.

The prosecutor then informed the judge that Mr. Adem was in custody on other charges with later trial dates, "so he's not going anywhere in the near future." *Id.* The court appeared to consider this an important factor in determining whether the continuance of the trial date should be granted: "So, he's held on the other cases? They have trial dates later than this?" *Id.* The court granted the state's motion to continue the trial date to August 13, 2012, with a new expiration date now extended to September 12, 1012. Supp CP __ (sub no. 30, 6/1/12).

At the fifth omnibus hearing on August 3, 2012, defense counsel again requested a later omnibus date of August 16th, and a trial date of September 5, 2013. According to the prosecutor, the lab had just notified him that a piece of clothing sent off for DNA testing had come back as a match for the defendant. RP 8/3/12 at 1. Mr. Adem again objected to the continuance. *Id.* at 2. The court nevertheless granted the continuance over Mr. Adem's objection. CP 29.

At the sixth omnibus hearing on August 16, 2012, defense counsel again sought a continuance over her client's objection. RP

8/16/12 at 1. Despite the fact that the prosecutor had notified the court two weeks earlier of the lab results, defense counsel stated that she had not received the results of the examination until August 15th. *Id.* at 2. It was not explained why she waited so long to obtain the results. Defense counsel went on to explain that she was in trial until the end of August. She was not sure if she would need an expert, so she requested an additional six weeks before the next omnibus hearing, with a trial date on October 1, 2013. Mr. Adem objected to the continuance. *Id.* at 3. The court found, based on defense counsel's representations (and over Mr. Adem's continuing objections), that a continuance was necessary in the interests of justice. CP 30.

It was not until October 4, 2012 that the trial in this matter begun. Of note, defense counsel did not request funding for a DNA expert to review the case, and did not present any DNA expert testimony.

3. Trial Testimony

On February 9, 2012, three suspects with bandanas across their face entered a small grocery and jewelry repair shop. This shop was located in the international district, and Ms. Lang Huynh owned and operated the repair shop portion of the store. RP 149.

There was a security camera that captured the incident on tape. RP 156.

The suspects pushed Ms. Huynh and told her to keep her head down. RP 154. She did as she was told. RP 155. Someone pushed what Ms. Huynh believed to be a gun against her head. RP 169. Ms. Huynh then added, "But, I did not look at the gun, you know?" RP 170. Ms. Huynh added that she had never actually seen a real gun except in a movie. She did not touch the gun. *Id*.

According to the security camera, the person with the gun was wearing a green hoodie. Because the suspects were all wearing hoods and bandanas, Ms. Huynh could not identify any of the men who came into her shop. RP 168. Other than bumping into a display case, Ms. Huynh did not suffer any injuries. RP 170-71.

After scooping up trays of jewelry from the display counter and the safe, the robbers ran out to a van in the back alley. As chance would have it, Nicholas Crimp, an employee from a nearby business, was at that same time parking his car in the alley. As he parked the car, he noticed a gray van parked in the alley with a driver hiding part of his face. RP 97. A moment later, masked men came running out of the jewelry store. As the fleeing suspects sprinted towards the awaiting van, jewelry spilled onto the ground.

RP 98. It was not until Crimp saw what appeared to be a gun skid across the ground towards his car, that prudence won out over curiosity. Crimp ran away and hid. RP 98. When the van drove away, Crimp called the police. RP 107. Crimp admitted that he is not very familiar with handguns, but he did think he heard a metallic sound when it hit the pavement. RP 105-06. The gun was never recovered. RP 251.

While the gun was never located, the van was discovered a short while later. After a description of the van was broadcasted to other police units, an officer saw the van in a parking lot of a housing project where one of the co-defendants lived. RP 138. Crimp identified it as the same van. RP 110-111. Nobody was in the van but the police did find various items of jewelry inside. RP 140, 213. Neither the inside of the van, nor the contents of the van, were ever tested for fingerprints. RP 250

Police spoke to Ms. Rivera, a resident at the housing project who lived near where the van was parked. She testified that she been looking out her window when she saw three people run by. RP 174. A moment later, a fourth person, who was not running, tossed something into the dumpster. *Id.* Ms. Rivera told police that this fourth person had long hair (which Liban Adem did not have at

that time). RP 181. The police retrieved the item and determined that it was a green multi-patterned hooded sweatshirt worn by the suspect with the gun in the robbery video. RP 207-08, 238.

The police spoke to Hassan Warfa. Hassan is the older brother of Liban Warfa, one of the men the police suspected of committing the robbery. RP 317. Hassan testified at trial about what he recalled of the incident.

Hassan works at the Port of Seattle, a job he has held for close to three years. RP 373-374. In the early morning hours of February 9, 2012, Hassan arrived home from work and saw his brother Liban Warfa with their cousin, Liban Adem. RP 322-23, 326, 337. Hassan went to bed while they were still up. The next morning, Hassan's brother woke him up and asked for the keys to the van. Hassan did not see Liban Adem with his brother at that time. Hassan gave him the keys and went back to sleep. RP 325-326, 359-361.

It was shortly after noon when Hassan next saw the van. RP 327. He had been outside the apartment working on his car, when the van pulled up. Hassan watched as the van door slid open, and four people began running away. Id. Concerned that something untoward had occurred, he ran after the occupants, yelling at them

to stop. RP 330. They did not. He could identify some of the occupants. He saw his brother (Liban Warfa), as well as a long time friend, Nate. He also saw a short Mexican guy he did not recognized. RP 328. There was a guy in a green sweatshirt that was running. Initially Hassan had assumed this was Liban Adem, but he later learned that this was not correct. RP 328, 345.

The State questioned Hassan extensively about his earlier statements implicating Liban Adem, but Hassan steadfastly maintained that he had made incorrect assumptions and that the police had pressured him to name Liban Adem as a participant. The police told him that because he drives the van he could be charged and deported. RP 371-73. They also threatened to contact his employer and cause him to lose his job. RP 371. He felt intimidated. The police had seized Hassan's wallet, demanding to know how come he had \$1,663 in his wallet. He tried explaining it was from his paycheck. RP 369-70. The police kept his money for the 4 to 5 hours he was detained. RP 363, 369. The police made Hassan very anxious to cooperate. RP 373. ¹

.

¹ The court admitted Hassan's prior statements for purposes of impeachment only. RP 574. The court did indicate that his statement that he chased after Liban could be considered as a recollection recorded, but that this fact was not central to the court's decision. RP 574.

The only person at trial who actually identified Liban Adem as a participant in the robbery was a juvenile co-defendant, Antonio Ortiz. Mr. Ortiz explained that he really had little choice in the matter. RP 67. He was 16 years old, and told that he would be tried as an adult on felony charges unless he pled guilty and specifically named the co-defendants in his plea. RP 70, 73, 83, 90. There were three charged co-defendants in superior court, and Mr. Ortiz obediently complied by listing all three. RP 73. As an adult, he would have received more than eight years in prison as an accomplice to an armed robbery. By accepting the State's offer, he received a three-month sentence. RP 75.

Ortiz testified that when he got into the van, the person in the green hood was in the front passenger seat, facing forward. RP 87. He never saw anyone with a gun. RP 80. He hardly knows Liban Adem. RP 81. In fact, when shown a photomontage by the police, he told police he was unable to recognize Liban Adem. RP 65. Nevertheless, following his plea deal, Mr. Ortiz stated that he did in fact recognize Liban Adem as the person in the green hoodie, and

that he had lied to the police when he said he could not identify him. ² RP 65, 69.

Inside a dumpster, police located jewelry trays taken from the heist. RP 226. One the trays contained a live round of ammo. RP 229; EX 40. One of the police officers speculated that the live round might have been ejected from the gun used in the robbery if the suspect had attempted to chamber a bullet when one was already in the chamber. RP 247. No testing was conducted on the bullet.

At trial, the State also introduced DNA evidence intended to connect Liban Adem to the green hooded sweatshirt recovered from the trash dumpster. The lab technician testified that the likelihood of two people chosen at random in the United States sharing the same DNA profile was 1 in 7.9 quadrillion. RP 281, 293. But in this case, at least one of the other suspects was not a random person. Rather, one of the known participants was Liban Warfa, who was Liban Adem's cousin. RP 348. The lab technician failed to test the DNA from the hoodie against Liban Warfa's DNA, nor did

² While Ortiz was on the stand, Liban Adem purportedly mouthed to him that he was going to pay dearly for his testimony. While the prosecutor viewed this as evidence of guilt, defense counsel appropriately pointed out that it was just as equally an angry expression directed at someone who was giving false testimony in court.

she offer any statistics regarding the likelihood of two cousins sharing similar characteristics.

Further questioning of the DNA technician revealed that there was additional DNA found on the sweatshirt not attributed to Liban Adem. RP 278-279. The crime lab made no effort to determine to whom that DNA belonged. Nor could the DNA technician offer any opinion as to how long the DNA would have remained on the clothes, if for example, Liban Adem had worn his cousin's sweatshirt at some point in the past. RP 299. The technician further acknowledged that items can be extremely sensitive to contamination at the crime scene, and that while she can protect against contamination in the lab, she has no control over the crime scene and the taking of the subject's DNA. RP 283-84, 286, 298.

Mr. Adem did not testify. Following the trial, the court found Mr. Adem guilty or robbery and the firearm enhancement. RP 574-75. The court made no mention of the unlawful possession of a firearm charge. Although the prosecutor stated that he would prepare written findings of fact, it appears that he never did so. RP 575. There are no CrR 6.1 findings on record.

III. ARGUMENT

The Court's Failure To Bring Mr. Adem To Trial Within The Required Time Period Requires Reversal Of His Convictions.

A trial court may grant a continuance over a defendant's objection. *State v. Campbell*, 103 Wn.2d 1, 15, 691 P.2d 929 (1984). Before doing so, however, the court is required to make a meaningful inquiry and determination that the continuance is "required in the administration of justice and the defendant will not be prejudiced in the presentation of his or her defense." CrR 3.3(f)(2).

In the present case, Mr. Adem made it clear from the start that he was not interested in negotiation; he wanted a speedy trial. In fact, the prosecutor even put that on the record at the time of the first case setting hearing. Given Mr. Adem's steadfast objections to the repeated continuances, the court was required to inquire in greater detail before granting the repeated continuances requested by Mr. Adem's appointed counsel and by the prosecutor. The last expiration date that Mr. Adem agreed to was July 13, 2012. Because the court failed to comply with the requirements of CrR 3.3 in extending the trial date beyond that time, reversal is required.

A defendant who is held in jail must be brought to trial within 60 days of arraignment, unless a period of time is excluded

from the time for trial. CrR 3.3(b)(1), (c)(1). When a defendant is out of custody, the State has 90 days in which to bring the defendant to trial. A delay pursuant to a properly granted continuance is excluded from the time for trial period. CrR 3.3(e)(3). While the court's decision to grant a continuance required in the administration of justice is generally reviewed for an abuse of discretion, a violation of the time for trial rule is reviewed de novo. State v. Kenyon, 167 Wn.2d 130, 135, 216 P.3d 1024 (2009).

Once the 60-day time for trial period expires without a lawful basis for further continuances, CrR 3.3 requires dismissal and the trial court loses authority to try the case. *State v. Saunders*, 153 Wn. App. 209, 220, 220 P.3d 1238 (2009); CrR 3.3(h). "The rule's importance is underscored by the responsibility it places on the trial court itself to ensure that the defendant receives a timely trial and its requirement that criminal trials take precedence over civil trials." *Saunders*, 153 Wn. App. at 220 (citing CrR 3.3(a)(1)-(2)).

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