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

c. ARGUMENT 

1. ADEM WAS TIMELY TRIED UNDER erR 3.3. 

The seven month delay in bringing Adem to trial, which 

resulted because of the numerous continuances sought by his 

own counsel, did not violate his rights to a speedy trial under 

CrR 3.3. The delay is attributable to Adem because his counsel 

acted as his agent when seeking continuances to further the 

defense. Furthermore, the requested continuances were properly 

granted because they allowed defense counsel to properly 

prepare for trial. 

a. Facts. 

On February 28,2012, Adem was arraigned. CP 123-24. 

He was brought to trial seven months later, after six continuances. 

CP 29-30,118-21; 4/13/12 RP 1-2; 5/4112 RP 2-3; 6/1/12 RP 1-2; 

7/13/12 RP 1-6; 8/3112 RP 1-2; 8/16/12 RP 1-2; RP 2. Adem 

wholly agreed to the first two continuances and objected to the 

subsequent four continuances that his lawyer requested. kL 
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Adem's counsel requested these last four continuances8 in order to 

adequately prepare his defense. 6/1/12 RP 1-2; 7/13/12 RP 1-6; 

8/3/12 RP 1-2; 8/16/12 RP 1-2. These last four continuances 

covered an approximately two and a half month period between the 

last expiration date that Adem agreed to, July 13, 2012, and the 

date his trial began on October 4, 2012. CP 119; 5/4/12 RP 2; 

RP 2. 

On March 13,2012, Adem's first case setting hearing, the 

case was set for trial. CP 124-25; 3/13/12 RP 1-2. At Adem's first 

and second omnibus hearings, on April 13, 2012 and May 4,2012 

respectively, the court granted agreed motions to continue the trial 

date. CP 118-19; 4/13/12 RP 1-2; 5/4/12 RP 2-3. As to each 

continuance, Adem signed under the line stating "I agree to the 

continuance" on the Order Continuing Trial associated with these 

hearings. CP 118-19. Additionally, at the May 4,2012 omnibus 

hearing, when defense counsel asked Adem whether he was in 

agreement with the request for a continuance, he responded, 

"Yeah" before signing the Order. CP 119; 5/4/12 RP 2-3. After the 

May 4,2012 hearing, Adem's time-for-trial expiration became July 

13,2012. CP119. 

8 Made on June 1st. July 13th , August 3rd , and August 16th of 2012. 
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On June 1,2012, defense counsel moved for a continuance 

to July 16, 2012. CP 120; 6/1/12 RP 1. Defense counsel 

requested the continuance because she needed to interview a 

significant number of witnesses in order to be prepared for trial, 

including Adem's three co-defendants who had pled out and were 

subpoenaed as State's witnesses, the State's other witnesses who 

were present at the scene, and possibly a few defense witnesses. 

6/1/12 RP 1-2. Defense counsel added: 

So, long story short, we're not ready yet. And 
Mr. Adem has some concerns about this; he's 
frustrated at the length of time this case has been 
going on ... [he] may not agree with the continuance. 
When we were walking downstairs, he was thinking 
about it. But I feel that I cannot be effective. 

6/1/12 RP 1-2. The State did not object to this request. CP 120; 

6/1/12 RP 1. Adem objected to the continuance requested by his 

attorney. CP 120; 6/1/12 RP 2. The court, however, granted the 

continuance finding that it was required in the administration of 

justice due to counsel's need to prepare for trial. CP 120. 

On July 13, 2012, the parties jointly requested a continuance 

so that they could have additional time to prepare for trial. CP 121; 

7/13/12 RP 1-6. Defense counsel wanted to interview the victim in 
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the case, noting that this was the last witness9 she needed to 

interview before she was ready for trial. CP 121; 7/13/12 RP 1,3. 

Defense counsel told the court that Adem was not in agreement 

with her request, but also expressed her concern about not being 

ready for trial without having interviewed the robbery victim.1o 

7/13/12 RP 3. The prosecutor's continuance request was due to 

not yet having received the DNA testing results, which he believed 

were not yet complete due to the backlog at the Washington State 

Patrol crime lab. 7/13/12 RP 1. The prosecutor believed that thirty 

days would be sufficient time for the DNA results to be received, 

provided to defense, and for defense to determine how to proceed 

with investigating the tested evidence. 7/13/12 RP 2. The court 

granted the continuance to August 13, 2012 in the administration of 

justice. CP 121. 

On August 3, 2012, defense counsel requested a 

continuance to September 5, 2012. CP 29; 8/3/12 RP 1. The 

prosecutor had just received notification that day that the DNA 

9 While it is not explicit, defense counsel's statement that the victim was the last 
witness she needed to interview suggests that the other interviews had been 
conducted by this time. CP 121; 7/13/12 RP 1, 3. 

10 The prosecutor explained to the court the efforts the parties had made to 
identify a time when the prosecutor, defense counsel, investigator, victim, and a 
Vietnamese interpreter were all available for the defense interview. 7/13/12 
RP 1. 
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testing was completed and had verbally provided the results of the 

testing to defense. 8/3/12 RP 1. Defense counsel needed an 

opportunity to review the testing results and decide how to proceed 

with the defense investigation. 8/3/12 RP 1-2. Adem objected to 

the continuance. 8/3/12 RP 2. However, defense counsel stated, 

"I feel that it's absolutely critical to effectively be prepared for this 

case, obviously, and that requires a continuance, and I thought that 

would be good cause, with this new discovery coming in this 

morning." ~ The court granted the continuance finding that it was 

required in the administration of justice and that "[t]here is good 

cause for continuing the trial date to allow [defense counsel] to be 

adequately prepared to represent [Adem]." CP 29; 8/3/12 RP 2. 

On August 16, 2012, defense counsel requested to continue 

trial to October 1,2012. CP 30; 8/16/12 RP 2. Defense counsel 

wanted to determine whether a DNA defense expert would be 

utilized, but she was in a trial lasting another two weeks. 8/16/12 

RP 1-2. Adem objected to defense counsel's request for a 

continuance; however, defense stated that, "In order to be effective, 

I am not ready for triaL" 8/16/12 RP 3. Based on defense 

counsel's representations about her schedule and what steps she 

needed to take to be prepared to go to trial, the court granted the 
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continuance, finding that there was good cause and that it was 

"necessary in the interest of justice." CP 30; 8/16/12 RP 3-4. 

On September 28, 2012, the prosecutor and defense 

counsel confirmed that they were ready for trial. CP 33-35. 

Adem's trial started on October 4,2012. RP 2. Defense counsel 

did not move to dismiss the case for a violation of CrR 3.3 at any 

point prior to or during trial. 

b. Adem's Rule-Based Time-To-Trial Claim 
Was Waived By Trial Counsel's Request 
For Continuances. 

A defendant has a right to a speedy trial under the Sixth 

Amendment and article I, section 22 of the Washington State 

Constitution. See State v. Carson, 128 Wn.2d 805, 820 & 

nn.63-64, 912 P.2d 1016 (1996). Although CrR 3.3(b)(1)(i) requires 

trial within 60 days of arraignment when the defendant is in 

custody, this requirement "is not a constitutional mandate." Carson, 

128 Wn.2d at 821 (quoting State v. Terranova, 105 Wn.2d 632, 

651,716 P.2d 295 (1986)) . Under CrR 3.3(h), the trial court must 

dismiss charges when the applicable speedy trial period has 

expired without a trial, but CrR 3.3(e) excludes the time allowed 

based on valid continuances and other delays of the speedy trial 
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period. 11 Excluded periods under CrR 3.3(e) include delays 

"granted by the court pursuant to section (f)." CrR 3.3(e)(3). 

A court may grant a continuance based on "written agreement of 

the parties, which must be signed by the defendant" or "on motion 

of the court or a party" where a continuance "is required in the 

administration of justice and the defendant will not be prejudiced in 

the presentation of his or her defense." CrR 3.3(f)(1 ),(2). 

An appellate court reviews for abuse of discretion a trial court's 

decision to grant a motion for a continuance in a criminal case. 

State v. Kenyon, 167 Wn.2d 130, 135,216 P.3d 1024 (2009). 

Granting defense counsel's request for more time to 

prepare, even over defendant's objection, to ensure effective 

representation and a fair trial, is a proper exercise of discretion. 

State v. Campbell, 103 Wn.2d 1, 15, 691 P.2d 929 (1984) 

(regarding rule-based right, "[c]ounsel was properly granted the 

right to waive trial in 60 days, over defendant's objection, to ensure 

effective representation and a fair trial"). See also State v. Ollivier, 

No. 86633-3, (Wash.S.Ct., 10/31/13), slip op. at 15-19, 21, ("Delay 

caused by defense counsel is chargeable to the defendant."), citing 

11 In exercising its discretion to grant or deny a continuance, a trial court is to 
consider all relevant factors. Statev. Flinn, 154Wn.2d 193, 200,110 P.3d 748 
(2005). Scheduling conflicts may be considered in granting continuances. See 
State v. Heredia-Juarez, 119 Wn. App. 150, 155, 79 P.3d 987 (2003). 
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Vermont v. Brillon, U.S. ,129 S. Ct. 1283, 1290-91, 173 - --

L. Ed 2d 31 (2009). 

Adem claims that the trial court erred by not making a more 

searching inquiry into the basis for continuances requested by his 

lawyer. 12 Appellant's Brief at 16. He asserts that the court should 

have asked why the interviews were not conducted sooner and why 

the State needed additional time to obtain DNA evidence. This 

argument must be rejected. 

The Washington Supreme Court recently considered and 

rejected an argument much like Adem's. Ollivier, No. 86633-3, 

(Wash.S.Ct., 10/31/13). It held that under CrR 3.3(f)(2) , defense 

counsel's request for a continuance of trial waives any appellate 

argument under CrR 3.3. kL. at 6. That holding controls this case. 

Adem's own counsel asked for a number of continuances in order 

to prepare for trial and, as 3.3(f)(2) expressly provides, any 

objection is therefore waived. kL. CrR 3.3 does not require a 

different standard for a continuance when a defendant personally 

objects. CrR 3.3(f)(2); Ollivier, slip op. at 6. Reversal and dismissal 

of the case is not required. 

12 Adem does not assert that his constitutional speedy trial right was violated. 
See Doggett v. United States, 505 U.S. 647, 651-52, 112 S. Ct. 2686, 120 
L. Ed. 2d 520 (1992); Barker v. Wingo, 407 U.S. 514, 92 S. Ct. 2182,33 
L. Ed. 2d 101 (1972). 
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Adem also argues that the trial court's rulings did not comply 

with the form required by erR 3.3 in that they were not sufficiently 

specific as to the legal or factual basis for the ruling. This 

argument, too, has been waived by trial counsel's requests. 

Even if this argument is considered, however, it fails. 

Defense counsel requested continuances on June 1st, July 13th , 

August 3rd , and August 16th of 2012, respectively, in order to 

interview a significant number of witnesses, interview the victim, 

review the recently completed DNA testing results, and determine 

whether a DNA defense expert would be utilized. 6/1/12 RP 1-2; 

7/13/12 RP 1, 3; 8/3/12 RP 1-2; 8/16/12 RP 1-2. The continuances 

were clearly proper because, like in Ollivier, they allowed defense 

counsel to properly investigate and prepare a defense to some very 

damaging evidence. 13 If the court had required Adem to go to trial 

before his counsel had completed these important steps, Adem's 

defense counsel would not have been fully prepared to deal with 

the evidence amassed by the State and, as she told the court, she 

would have been ineffective. 6/1/12 RP 2; 7/13/12 RP 3; 8/3/12 

RP 2; 8/16/12 RP 3. The continuances were granted in oral and 

13 Adem argues the reason the court granted the continuance on July 13, 2012 
was because Adem was in jail on other charges. Appellant's Brief at pg. 22. 
However, there is nothing in the record to support that contention. CP 121; 
7/13/12 RP 1-4. 
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written orders that identified the legal basis for the court's rulings-

the administration of justice-and that explained why the defendant 

would not be prejudiced. CP 29-30,120-21; 6/1/12 RP 1-2; 7/13/12 

RP 1-3; 8/3/12 RP 1-2; 8/16/12 RP 1-4. The propriety of those 

rulings cannot be undermined unless it is shown that trial counsel 

was ineffective. 

It is also apparent that Adem was not prejudiced in any 

substantial way by the continuances, nor does Adem assert that 

there was any actual prejudice to the presentation of his defense. 14 

Ollivier, slip op. at 25; see also Doggett v. United States, 505 U.S. 

647,656,112 S. Ct. 2686,120 L. Ed. 2d 520 (1992) ("When the 

government prosecutes a case with reasonable diligence, a 

defendant who cannot demonstrate how his defense was 

prejudiced with specificity will not make out a speedy trial claim no 

matter how great the ensuing delay."). 

Adem cites two cases to support his arguments but both 

were distinguished in Ollivier. Regarding State v. Saunders, 153 

Wn. App. 209, 220 P.3d 1238 (2009), the Court in Ollivier noted 

14 Adem does, however, imply that defense counsel's August 3, 2012 
continuance request is what enabled the State to obtain the incriminating DNA 
results. Appellant's Brief at 25-26. This argument, which pertains to Adem's 
ineffective assistance claim, will be addressed in greater detail below. See 
section C2, infra. 
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that Saunders was a special case in that the three continuances at 

issue were granted to permit ongoing plea negotiations over the 

defendant's objection and contrary to his desire to go to trial. 15 

Ollivier, slip op. at 7. In contrast, defense counsel had authority to 

make binding decisions to seek continuances. Ollivier, slip op. at 8. 

Nor is State v. Kenyon, 167 Wn.2d 130,216 P.3d 1024 

(2009), controlling. In Kenyon, charges were dismissed because 

the record failed to sufficiently document details showing that no 

judge was available to try the case, as required by precedent. Id . 

at 138. The Court in Ollivier held that Kenyon involved 

continuances for far different reasons than in Ollivier's case, 

specifically to accommodate missing judges, not to prepare for trial. 

Ollivier, slip op. at 8. The same is true here. 

For these reasons, Adem's rule-based claims must be 

rejected. 

2. TRIAL COUNSEL WAS EFFECTIVE. 

Adem contends that defense counsel provided ineffective 

assistance of counsel when she requested a continuance of the 

trial date at the same time that the State was asking for an even 

15 Whether to plead guilty is an objective of representation controlled by the 
defendant and not a matter of trial strategy to achieve an objective. See Faretta 
v. California, 422 U.S. 806, 820, 95 S. Ct. 2525, 45 L. Ed. 2d 562 (1975). 
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longer continuance to obtain DNA evidence. 7/13/12 RP 1-3. 

Adem's argument should be rejected because he is unable to show 

that his defense counsel's actions were deficient or that he was 

prejudiced by her representation. 

a. Facts. 

The topic of obtaining DNA results was first discussed on the 

record on July 13, 2012. 16 7/13/12 RP 1-2. On that day, the 

prosecutor joined defense counsel's request for a continuance, so 

that the crime lab could complete the DNA testing and the parties 

could evaluate the results. The prosecutor clarified that the DNA 

analysis was requested a number of months prior and that he 

believed the crime lab had already started the testing since Adem's 

DNA was already in CODIS 17 due to his prior convictions. 7/13/12 

RP 4, 6. Additionally, the State asked for Adem's DNA so that a 

reference sample could be generated for purposes of confirming 

the DNA test results. kL, RP 279-80. 

16 However, at the first omnibus, defense cou nsel told the court that she had 
"received some additional discovery in the last few weeks. The results of 
[inaudible] aren't quite ready yet." 4/13/12 RP 1. Defense counsel was likely 
referring to the results of the DNA testing when she made this partially inaudible 
statement because the green hooded sweatshirt was the only evidence item that 
underwent testing. RP 287. 

17 The Combined DNA Index System is a national, searchable database of DNA 
profiles of convicted offenders. 
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Adem argues that the request to obtain DNA results "was 

made more than 180 days after charges were filed, and the State 

had not yet even obtained a sample DNA from the defendant." 

Appellant's Brief at 21. This suggests that the State waited to begin 

its DNA analysis on the green sweatshirt until obtaining a DNA 

sample from Adem on July 24,2012. kL at 21-22; CP 28. 

However, the record demonstrates that this assertion is inaccurate. 

The reference sample taken from Adem was used for the purpose 

of confirming the DNA test results, not so that the crime lab could 

begin their testing process. 7/13/12 RP 4,6; RP 279-80. 

b. Trial Counsel Properly Sought 
Continuances To Effectively Defend 
Adem. 

A criminal defendant has a constitutional right to effective 

assistance of counsel. U.S. Const. amend. VI; Const. art. I, § 22; 

Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 686, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80

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